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N
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT —-D0.¢
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA g
(MIAMI DIVISION) 2 03
oy
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSIO W o ; | 5\ r
Plaintiff,
v. COMPLAINT FOR
C’ V K,N f  INJUNCTIVE
MICHAEL A. PUHR, ) AND

) OTHER RELIEF

1AGISTRATE JUDGE
O'SULLIVAN

Defendant.

Plaintiff, Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") alleges as follows:

INTRODUCTION

1. The SEC brings this action to enjoin Defendant from violating the federal securities
laws by disseminating fraudulent information to the public and by filing materially false
statements with the SEC.

DEFENDANT

2. Michael A. Puhr, age 47, resides in Westminster, Colorado. From September 1994 to

October 1997, Puhr was the president and chief executive officer of Rocky Mountain Crystal
Water, Inc. (“Crystal Water”), a company that merged with another company, Olympus Ventures,
Inc. (“Olympus”) in the fall of 1997 to form Rocky Mountain International Limited (“Rocky
Mountain”). From Rocky Mountain’s inception to late-October, 1997, Puhr was the president and
chief executive officer of Rocky Mountain.

OTHERS

3. Rocky Mountain International Limited (“Rocky Mountain™) is a Washington

corporation with no current operations. When it was created in 1997, Rocky Mountain had its

principal place of business in Fort Lauderdale, Florida. Rocky Mountain was formed as a result of

\//
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a September 1997 merger between Olympus and Crystal Water. Rocky Mountain’s securities were
registered, and the company filed periodic reports with, the SEC. In addition, the Company’s
common stock was quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board between July 26, 1995 and December 22,
1997.

4. Crystal Water was incorporated in Wyoming in 1994 by Puhr and others, and had its

principal place of business in Denver, Colorado. Before its fall 1997 merger with Olympus, Crystal
Water was a privately held company that bottled and sold natural spring water.

5. Olympus, a Washington corporation, was the predecessor to Rocky Mountain. At the
time that it merged with Crystal Water, Olympus purported to be a garment manufacturer based in
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida. Olympus, and subsequently Rocky Mountain, registered its securities with
the Commission pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”),
and filed periodic reports with the Commission pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

6. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 21(d), 21(e), and 27 of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ("Exchange Act"), 15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d), 78u(e) and 78aa.

7. Certain of the acts and transactions constituting violations of the Exchange Act have
occurred within the Southern District of Florida.

8. Defendants, directly and indirectly, have made use of the means and instrumentalities
of interstate commerce, the means and instruments of transportation and communication in
interstate commerce, and the mails, in connection with the acts, practices, and courses of

business complained of herein.
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THE MERGER BETWEEN CRYSTAL WATER AND OLYMPUS

9. Pursuant to a merger agreement dated September 24, 1997, Crystal Water and
Olympus agreed to a merger that made Crystal Water a wholly-owned subsidiary of Olympus.
Under the terms of the merger, Olympus changed its name to Rocky Mountain and Puhr became
the president and chief executive officer of the newly-created company.

10. At the time of the merger, Olympus purported to be a garment manufacturing
company, and Crystal Water purported to bottle and sell natural spring water.

THE FALSE PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENTS AND FILINGS

11. After Crystal Water and Olympus entered into their merger agreement, the newly-
formed Rocky Mountain made several public announcements and filings about the merger. On
October 1, 1997, Rocky Mountain issued a press release that announced the merger and its terms.

Rocky Mountain attached this press release to a Form 8-K that it filed with the Commission on
October 8, 1997 (“the Form 8-K”). The Form 8-K, which Rocky Mountain filed to report the
merger, also included an unaudited balance sheet for Rocky Mountain. Puhr drafted or signed
these documents, each of which contained several misrepresentations or omissions, described
below.

The October 1, 1997 Press Release and October 8, 1997 Form 8-K

12. On October 1, 1997, Rocky Mountain issued a press release announcing the merger
between Crystal Water and Olympus. The press release described Rocky Mountain’s asset base
as “in excess of Twenty Million Dollars ($21,010,431).” The vast majority of the $21,010,431

value placed on Rocky Mountain’s assets consisted of 4 million shares of stock in another
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company that Crystal Water allegedly owned. Rocky Mountain valued these 4 million shares at
$14 million. In fact, Crystal Water may not have owned that stock, and, in any event, the stock
was worth far less than $14 million.

13. Prior to the merger, Puhr knew, or was reckless in not knowing, that the other
company disputed Crystal Water’s ownership of the 4 million shares of its stock, which Crystal
Water purportedly obtained in connection with an earlier, failed merger. However, Puhr did not
disclose this fact in the October 1, 1997 press release.

14. In addition, the actual value of the 4 million shares was far less than $14 million. In
fact, the shares were worth, at most, $1.5 million at the time of the October 1, 1997 press release.
Again, this fact was not disclosed in the October 1, 1997 press release.

15. On October 8, 1997, Rocky Mountain filed a Form 8-K with the SEC that Puhr
signed as the company’s president and chief executive officer. The Form 8-K described the
highlights of the merger between Olympus and Crystal Water, and attached a consolidated
financial statement of the two entities, a copy of the September 24, 1997 merger agreement, and
the October 1, 1997 press release.

16. The October 8, 1997 Form 8-K contained the unaudited combined balance sheet of
Olympus and Crystal Water as of June 30, 1997. The balance sheet listed the combined entity’s
assets at just over $16 million, with the largest single asset of $14 million (the 4 million shares of
another company) described as “Investments.” Neither the notes to the balance sheet nor any
other document in the Form 8-K disclosed the questions concerning the value of the shares or the

doubts about Rocky Mountain’s ownership of those shares.
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The October 3, 1997 Press Release

17. Inan October 3. 1997 Rocky Mountain press release, the company claimed that its
operations included manufacturing active wear. Rocky Mountain claimed to have manufacturing
facilities in, among other places, Hialeah, Florida and Managua, Nicaragua. In reality, the Hialeah
factory, which had been corporate headquarters for Olympus, had not been operated by Olympus
since at least June 1996. Rather, since that time, Olympus subleased the factory to an unrelated
manufacturer for $6,000 per month in rent.

18. Moreover, at the time of the October 3, 1997 press release, Rocky Mountain was
involved in a dispute with the managers and former owners of its Nicaraguan plant, the
Company’s largest manufacturing facility. Even before Rocky Mountain’s October 3, 1997 press
release, Olympus had already filed a lawsuit to rescind its agreement to purchase that facility. As
president and chief executive officer of Rocky Mountain, Puhr knew, or recklessly disregarded,
these facts. However, Puhr never disclosed Olympus’ lack of garment manufacturing operations
or the lawsuit regarding the Nicaraguan manufacturing plant in the October 3, 1997 press release.

COUNT 1

FRAUD IN VIOLATION OF
SECTION 10(b) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 10b-5

19. The SEC repeats and realleges all of the foregoing allegations of this Complaint.

20. Between October 1, 1997 and at least October 8, 1997, Defendant Puhr, directly and
indirectly, by use of the means and instrumentality of interstate commerce, and of the mails, and
of any facility of any national securities exchange, in connection with the purchase or sale of the

securities, as described herein, knowingly, willfully or recklessly: (i) employed devices,
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schemes or artifices to defraud; (i1) made untrue statements of material facts and omitted to state
material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances
under which they were made, not misleading; and (iii) engaged in acts, practices and courses of
business which operated and will operate as a fraud upon the purchasers of such securities.

21. By reason of the foregoing, Defendant Puhr, directly or indirectly, violated and,
unless enjoined, will continue to violate Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b),
and Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5, thereunder.

COUNT II

VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 13(a) OF THE EXCHANGE
ACT AND RULES 13a-11 AND 12b-20

22.  The SEC repeats and realleges all of the foregoing allegations of this Complaint.

23. Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act requires all issuers subject to the reporting
requirements of the Exchange Act to file periodic and other reports with the SEC containing such
information as the SEC’s rules prescribe. Rule 13a-11, promulgated pursuant to Section 13(a),
requires issuers to file with the SEC special reports on Form 8-K. In addition to any required
information in a statement or report, Rule 12b-20 requires the addition of such further material
information, if any, as may be necessary to make the required statements, in light of the
circumstances under which they are made, not misleading.

24. At all relevant times, Rocky Mountain was an issuer subject to these reporting

requirements, and Puhr, directly or indirectly, controlled Rocky Mountain.
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25. Puhr, as a control person of Rocky Mountain, caused Rocky Mountain to file with
the SEC materially false financial and information statements in the special report on Form §-K
filed by Rocky Mountain on or about October 1, 1997.

26. By reason of the foregoing, Defendant Puhr, directly or indirectly, violated, and
unless enjoined, will continue to violate, Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78m(a),
and Rules 13a-11 and 12b-20 thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.13a-11 and 240.12b-20.

COUNT III

VIOLATIONS OF SECTIONS 13(b)(2)(A) AND 13(b)(5)
OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 13b2-1

27. The SEC repeats and realleges all of the foregoing allegations of this Complaint.

28. Section 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act requires issuers with a class of securities
registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act to maintain books, records, and accounts which, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the issuer’s
assets. Section 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act prohibits any person from, among other things,
knowingly falsifying any book, record or account subject to Section 13(b)(2). Rule 13b2-1
prohibits any person from, directly or indirectly, falsifying or causing to be falsified any book,
record or account subject to Section 13(b)(2)(A).

29. At all relevant times, Rocky Mountain was an issuer subject to these reporting
requirements, and Puhr, directly or indirectly, controlled Rocky Mountain.

30. Puhr, as a control person of Rocky Mountain, caused Rocky Mountain to file with
the SEC materially false financial and information statements in the special report on Form 8-K

filed by Rocky Mountain on or about October 1, 1997.
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31. By reason of the foregoing, Defendant Puhr, directly or indirectly, violated, and
unless enjoined, will continue to violate, Sections 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act,
15 U.S.C. §§ 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(5), and Rules 13b2-1 thereunder, 17 C.F.R. § 240.13b2-
1.

RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE, the SEC respectfully requests that the Court:
L

Declaratory Relief

Declare, determine and find that Defendant Puhr committed the violations of the federal
securities laws alleged herein.
II.

Permanent Injunctive Relief

[ssue a Permanent Injunction, restraining and enjoining Defendant Puhr, his agents,
servants, employees, attorneys, and all persons in active concert or participation with him, and
each of them, from violating Sections 10(b), 13(a), 13(b}(2)(A) and 13(b)(5) of the Exchange
Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b), 78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(5), and Rules 10b-5, 12b-20, 13a-11

and 13b2-1, thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.10b-5, 240.12b-20, 240.13a-11 and 240.13b2-1.
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IIL.
Penalties
Issue an Order directing Defendant Puhr to pay civil fines and/or penalties pursuant to
Section 20(d) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77t(d) and Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act, 15
U.S.C. § 78(d)(3).
Iv.

Further Relief

Grant such other and further relief as may be necessary and appropriate.
V.

Retention of Jurisdiction

Further, the SEC respectfully requests that the Court retain jurisdiction over this action in
order to implement and carry out the terms of all orders and decrees that may hereby be entered,
or to entertain any suitable application or motion by the SEC for additional relief within the
jurisdiction of this Court.

Respectfully submitted,

July 6, 2000 W

Mitchell E. Herr

Regional Trial Counsel

SD Fla. A-5500-259

Attorneys for Plaintiff
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION

1401 Brickell Avenue, Suite 200
Miami, Florida 33131

Telephone: (305) 982-6336
Facsimile: (305) 536-7465
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